Samuel Thaxter

Closely associated with the name of William Williams is that of another instrument maker of
Boston, Samuel Thaxter (1769-1842). Thaxter was born in Hingham, Massachusetts, on
December 13, 1769, the son of Samuel and Bathsheba (Lincoln) Thaxter. His father, who had
been born in Hingham in 1744, was married on December 27, 1768, and he became the father of
six[Pg 98]children, of whom Samuel was the eldest. Samuel Thaxter, Sr., was apparently a man of
means, for he is listed as a "Gentleman" and a loyal subject of King George. He resided on North
Street in Hingham, near Ship Street. He died on the island of Campobello at the age of 44 years
on May 27, 1788.0%]

Samuel Thaxter, as well as several generations of his family before him, was born in the old
Thomas Thaxter mansion that was built by the settler of that name in 1652. During the
Revolution Samuel's father, Maj. Samuel Thaxter, concealed Tories from the Committee of
Safety in a blind passage with a secret door in the old house. From there he smuggled them to
Boston. At the massacre of Fort William, Major Thaxter was one of those captured by the
Indians. While tied to a tree, he saw two French officers, and demanded whether this was the
treatment they gave to commissioned officers. They allowed him to go free and he dragged
himself to Fort Edward. Meanwhile, his comrades had reported him missing in action, and Dr.
Gay preached his funeral sermon in Hingham shortly before Thaxter's return. The old Thaxter
mansion was torn down in 1864.1%!

Young Samuel Thaxter moved from Hingham to Boston, where he is first heard of in 1792. On
June 14, 1792, Thaxter married Polly Helyer, the niece of William Williams.

Within a month after the sale of Williams' property at public auction, Thaxter acquired the
instrument-making business. Apparently the new owner of the premises required the business to
move, and Thaxter established himself at No. 9 Butler's Row. A month after the Williams
auction Thaxter announced his new location in an advertisement (fig. 50) in The Columbia
Centinel of May 22, 1793.

Thaxter's new location was a wooden store structure, on the north side of Butler's Row that was
owned by Andrew Hall and Eunice Fitch in 1798. It was in the rear of the north side of State
Street, running from Merchants Row to the water.

By 1796 Thaxter had moved from this location to No. 49 State Street, on the north side opposite
to Broad Street, a brick store owned by Joseph Lovering & Sons, tallow chandlers. He continued
to do business at this address until 1815, when he moved to 27 State Street, on the opposite side
of the street. The new loca[Pg 99]tion was in a brick dwelling, opposite Merchants Row, that was
owned by Joseph Clough, a housewright.
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Figure 50.—Advertisement of Samuel Thaxter in The Columbia Centinel, May 22, 1793. Photo courtesy
Harvard University Library.

In about 1825 Thaxter moved his business once more, to 125 State Street, the east corner of
Broad Street. This building was occupied by Charles Stimpson, Jr., a stationer who was one of
the publishers of the Boston Annual Advertiser, which was annexed to the Boston Directory of
1826. The building was owned by Jonathan Phillips, the first mayor of Boston. In the cellar of
the building was a victualler named Augustus Adams.!*”

The dominating feature of Thaxter's shop from the time it was opened was the carved figure of
"The Little Admiral," the trade sign first used by Williams.

The firm of Samuel Thaxter eventually became Samuel Thaxter& Son, and it continued with that
name until past the middle of the 19th century. Samuel Thaxter died in April 1842 at the age of
72 years. The entry for the firm in the 1843 City Directory listed S. T. Cushing as the new
owner. From the initials, it seems likely[Pg 100-101] that his full name was Samuel Thaxter
Cushing, and that he was the grandson of the original Samuel Thaxter. S. T. Cushing continued
to be listed as the owner of the firm until 1899, when he was succeeded by A. T. Cushing,
presumably a son of the former. The old store was finally demolished in 1901.1% Comparison of
a photograph of the building just before its demolition with a copy of Thaxter's trade card (fig.
51) of the mid-19th century shows that the building underwent little change in the period. The
"Little Admiral" is barely visible in both views.
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Figure 51.—19th-century trade card in collection of the Bostonian Society.




Figure 52.—Mahogany surveying compass made by Samuel Thaxter of Boston. Length, 13 in.;
diameter, 7-1/2 in. Wooden frame slides off to permit removal of glass and adjustment of needle.
Sighting bars are of boxwood. In collection of the writer.

In 1796, shortly after his marriage, Thaxter made his home on
[Pg 102]

Fish Street (now North Street), but in 1800 he was living at 54 Middle Street (Hanover Street).
By 1807 he had moved to a new home on Fleet Street. His last home address, at the time of his
death, was 41 Pinckney Street.l®

Figure 53.—Compass card from earlier form of wooden surveying compass made by Samuel Thaxter of
Boston. From an instrument in the collection of the writer.

In the collection of the Massachusetts Historical Society there is a receipted bill (fig. 55) from
Samuel Thaxter dated July 1, 1801, to Sam Brown, for touching up and repairing nine compasses
for the French corvelle Berceau.

[Pg 103]



Figure 54.—Brass surveying compass made and sold by S. Thaxter & Son, Boston, in late 18th or early
19th century. Over-all length, 14 in.; diameter of dial, 6 in.; length of needle, 5-1/8 in.; height of
sighting bars, 6-1/2 in. In collection of the writer.

[Pg 104]
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Figure 55.—Receipted bill from Samuel Thaxter to Sam Brown, Boston, August 4, 1801. In collection of
Massachusetts Historical Society.



